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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
WELLCO, INC., a corporation, and 
 
GEORGE M. MOSCONE, individually and as an 

officer of WELLCO, INC., 
 
 Defendants. 

 
 

 
Case No. ____________ 
 
COMPLAINT  FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION, MONETARY 
RELIEF, AND OTHER RELIEF  
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pages advertising competing sellers’ TV antenna products.  He communicates with Wellco’s 

payment processors and its performance marketing agency, the entity that recruits and manages 

marketing affiliates.  He has been involved in the development of policies for handling consumer 

inquiries and complaints and supervising customer service representatives.  He co-created 

templates for Defendants’ customer service representatives to use to respond to customer service 

inquiries and complaints about performance of Defendants’ antenna products.  Defendant 

Moscone resides in this District and, in connection with the matters alleged herein, transacts or 

has transacted business in this District and throughout the United States. 

COMMERCE  

8. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial 

course of trade in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 44. 

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS ACTIVITIES  
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CUTTING-EDGE 
TECHNOLOGY 
 
Developed by a NASA 
scientist using military 
technology to capture 
full 1080 HD signals. 
 
Up to 30 mile range, 
operational anywhere in 
the United States (even 
in the countryside!) 
 
Dual band reception- 
VHF/UHF, Antenna has 
20 dB gain. 

GET YOUR FAVORITE 
CHANNELS IN HD 
 
Watch local news & weather 
 
Watch live sports (NFL, NBA, 
MLB, NHL, NASCAR, Golf, 
College, Tennis, etc) 
 
Watch your favorite TV shows 
 
Receive up to 100+ premium 
channels in HD 
 
 

 

SUPER EASY SETUP 
 
Quick and easy 2-minute setup 
 
Just place the antenna anywhere 
indoors - on the wall, window or 
wherever you please - with 
the included adhesive tape, channel 
scan and you are all set! 
 
The easy installat ion and compact 
8.3 inch x 4.7 inch design makes it 
great for use in homes, RVs or 
campers while traveling or even in 
your office.

 

– WHAT PEOPLE ARE SAYING  – 
 

"I was very skeptical that a flat antenna facing the wrong way, facing an inward 
courtyard, in a city brick 1929 building had a chance of finding any broadcast 
signal. To my great surprise, I am now enjoying over 55 crystal clear HD 
channels ... This is a WINNER! Bye bye Cable!"  

-Jerry Hopkins from Indi anapolis, IN 
 

"Bought this for my daughter, no trouble with installation, works great for her 
location and now has all of her favorite channels to watch for free. Great product, 
it really works great!" 

-Angela Kelley from Palo Alto, CA 
 

"I live in the city and wasn't sure that this antenna would perform after being 
disappointed with others I had tried but this antenna delivers what it promises. I 
get 46 clear channels. What a deal! It's goodbye to cable and I'll be saving about 
$1000 a year. 

-Robert Goodwin from Chicago, IL 
 

Are you ready to cut the cord and stop paying a monthly cable bill? 
(Take advantage of our one-time fire sale – it’s ending soon!) 

 
Exhibit A.  This web page was disseminated from February 2018 through June 2018.  A nearly 

identical version of this web page promoting the SkyLink TV Antenna was disseminated from 

June 2018 through February 2019.  A nearly identical version of this web page promoting the 

Tilt  TV Antenna, except that “Receive up to 100+ premium channels in HD” was replaced with 

“Receive channels in HD,”  was disseminated from January 2019 through March 2019. 
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B. SkyWire TV Antenna Web Page 

SKYWIRETV 
ANTENNA 
… 
 
Never Pay For Cable Or Subscriptions Again?  This 
Device Allows You To Watch Your Favorite Channels 
For Free 

 
With Over 1.5 Million Units Sold Worldwide,
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But how can you watch all this for free?  The secret lies behind a law that no television 
operator in the world wants you to know.  This specifies that they must provide, in 
addition to the conventional signal, a signal per radio.  In order not to break the law, all 
operators therefore broadcast this signal. 
 
… 
 
SkyWire TV Antenna launch video 
 
[Embedded video with superimposed text that included “SKYWIRE TV 
ANTENNA,”“DIGITAL INDOOR TV ANTENNA” “Get Instant Access to Live TV 
Programs in Your Area For FREE” with logos of ten television networks displayed, 
“Watch LOCAL NEWS,” “Watch SPORT EVENTS,” “Watch FAVORITE SHOWS,” 
“Cut-the-Cord Today with THE ULTIMATE INDOOR ANTENNA,” and “ENSURES 
CRYSTAL CLEAR RECEPTION.”  The video closes with the prominently displayed 
words “WATCH FREE CABLE TV!” next to a picture of the antenna.] 
 
But is it legal? 
 
YES ! Without a doubt. Its use is entirely legal since the television operators themselves 
distribute the signal completely free of charge. 
 
Obviously television operators do not like it at all, but they can not [sic] do anything 
about it.  They are required by law to maintain the signal.  And now, with advanced 
antennas like SkyWire TV Antenna, you can finally capture it. 
 
… 
 
[Posts that appear to be social media postings discussing the antenna] 
 
Gabrielle Sharp 
Wow it looks amazing, is anyone already tested?  [sic] 
Like   Reply   [like symbol] 1   1 h 
 
 June Holmes 
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June 2018 through March 2019.  A nearly identical version of this web page promoting the Tilt 

TV Antenna was disseminated from January 2019 through March 2019. 

 

C. SkyLink TV 
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byline appears directly under the headline, “Never Pay For Cable Or Subscriptions Again!  This 

Device Allows You To Watch Your Favorite Channels For Free,” was also disseminated from 

January 2019 through March 2019. 

D. SkyLink TV Antenna Web Page 

SkyLink 
Antenna 
 
Home > Trending> Television > 
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changed in 2018 with the government ruling that TV signals are public property and 
“belong to the people”. Ever since the rule went into effect, the big cable companies are 
panicing [sic] because many Americans will no longer need to pay for cable or satellite tv 
to get their favorite channels in HD.  As long as you live in a publicly broadcasted area, it 
is now possible to watch all of your favorite channels for free with a TV antenna. 
 
However, not all TV antenna’s [sic] will work.  In an attempt to block the public from 
picking up their TV signals, the cable companies are broadcasting their signals at very 
low frequencies since most antenna’s will not be able to pick them up.  The trick is to get 
an antenna that can reliably pick up these low frequency signals, and up until now, there 
hasn’t been an antenna advanced enough to pick these signals up reliably.  (There are 
other antenna’s [sic] out on the market, but they fail miserably in comparison to this one) 
 
Developed by a NASA engineer using military technology, the SkyLink HDTV Antenna 
was just released this year so that it could specifically pick up these signals reliably and 
has been hailed as the only “super” HDTV antenna.  It uses a discrete mud flap modern 
design which makes it the most reliable and technologically advanced antenna to hit the 
market today.  It can pick up signals out to 60 miles with no problem (as well as the low 
frequency signals) to enable you to receive crystal-clear HD channels. 
 
We tested it out for ourselves … 
 
When we first heard about this new “super” HDTV antenna, we were a bit skeptical.  So, 
we decided to buy one ourselves and test it out. 
 
The antenna is supposed to work flawlessly in both the city and the country side, but for 
our purposes, we drove out to the country side to conduct our test. 
 
Setup was fast and easy.  We simply plugged it in to the TV and stuck the antenna to the 
window (you don’t have to stick it to the window, you can stick it anywhere you want). 
… 
 
What happened next was astonishing … 
 
We turned the TV on and found ourselves staring back at an incredibly clear channel in 
HD.  We kept flipping through channels and to our amazement, every channel was crystal 
clear.  Best of all, we received almost all of the most popular channels you would get 
with cable. 
 
All in all, we were able to access 68 channels in 1080 HD.  It was as if we were getting 
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we were able to receive about 85% of the of same channels and more importantly, they 
were the most popular channels that people actually watch. 
 
The verdict: If you want to save thousands of dollars and stop paying for cable or 
satellite tv, and don’t mind losing out on a few random channels you probably won’t even 
watch, you should try the SkyLink HDTV Antenna.  
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ANTENNA! 
 
Pull in MORE STATIONS in crystal clear HDTV when you add the TV Scout Amplifier 
to your deal! Remember, you will get more FREE Stations and increase your range up to 
50 MILES! 
 
You won’t pay $80.00 for this powerful amplifier. Not even $60.00. If you buy now and 
add it to your order, you’ll pay the crazy low price of $32.00 per unit! 
 
[Depiction of television screen showing four scenes, including ones from Game of 
Thrones, which appears on HBO, Westworld, which appears on HBO, Walking Dead, 
which appears on AMC, and Pretty Little Liars, which appeared on ABC Family] 
 
ADD ONE x1 TV Scout Amplifier to your Order 
 
TVScout       Double Your Signal 
amplifier       Double Your Distance 
        Get More Free Channels! 
 
[Depiction of SkyLink TV Amplifier]             [Depiction of split screen “before” and 

“after” images from Game of Thrones with 
the before side very fuzzy] 

 
Pull in more free TV Stations - Increase range up to 50 miles! Change fuzzy stations 
into crystal-clear stations. It’s the perfect combination with your TV Scout to get the 
optimum pleasure of watching everything come in FREE!  So easy to use. Just connect 
one wire between your TV Scout and your TV set and you are READY TO GO! GRAB 
THIS NOW AT A LOW LOW PRICE!!  
 

Exhibit E.  This web page was displayed to consumers who were in the process of ordering the 

TV Scout Antenna.  It was disseminated from March 2017 through April 2019.  A nearly 

identical version of this web page promoting the SkyWire TV Amplifier was disseminated from 

July 2017 through July 2018.  A nearly identical version of this web page promoting the SkyLink 

TV Amplifier was disseminated from June 2018 through March 2019.  A Spanish language 

version of this web page promoting the TV Scout Antenna, attached as Exhibit F, was 

disseminated from May 2017 through April 2019. 
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16. In creating web pages promoting Wellco TV Antennas, Defendants copied 

consumer endorsements from websites promoting competing antenna products. 

17. When potential customers emailed Wellco inquiring about the channels they 

would receive, a Wellco representatives would often respond by email: 

We cannot guarantee specific channel reception but we can tell you what our current 
customers have reported back to us.  Customers who live in remote parts of the world 
may receive as few as 10 channels whereas customers in more densely populated, urban 
areas, receive upwards of 100 channels.  We hope this information helps and look 
forward to your business. 
 

Wellco representatives wrote this to over 15,000 potential customers. 
 

18. Based on the facts and violations of law alleged in this Complaint, the FTC has 
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Count I 
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26. Therefore, the making of the representation set forth in Paragraph 24 of this 

Complaint constitutes a deceptive act or practice, in or affecting commerce, in violation of 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).  

Count III 

Other Misrepresentations 

27. In connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale 

of the Wellco TV Antenna, Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 
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29. Therefore, the making of the representations as set forth in Paragraph 27 of this 

Complaint constitutes a deceptive act or practice, in or affecting commerce, in violation of 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

30. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result 

of Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act.  In addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched 

as a result of their unlawful acts or practices.  Absent injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants 

are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

 Wherefore, Plaintiff FTC, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), 

and the Court’s own equitable powers, requests that the Court: 

 A. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act by 

Defendants; 

 B. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to address Defendants’ violations 

of the FTC Act, including rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of monies paid, 

restitution, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies or other relief necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations; and 

 C. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      JAMES REILLY DOLAN 
      Acting General Counsel 
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